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Marion Superior Court 11 Marion County, Indiana

STATE 0F INDIANA ) IN THE MARION COURT
) ss:

COUNTY OF MARION ) CAUSE NO:

T.L., J.C., L.C., S.A.S., J.H.S., and )

CONCERNED CLERGY OF )

INDIANAPOLIS )

)

Plaintiffs )

)

vs. )

)

ERICHOLCOMB, in his official capacity)

as GOVERNOR 0f the State 0f Indiana, )

and FREDERICK PAYNE, in his official )

capacity as COMMISSIONER 0f the )

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF )

WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT, )

)

Defendants. )

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Recognizing the severe and diverse economic hardships caused by the

COVID-19 pandemic, the United States temporarily enhanced the federal

unemployment insurance (“U1”) program. The UI program has served as a Vital

lifeline for thousands of Hoosiers. By prematurely deciding t0 stop administering

these federal benefits, Indiana has violated the clear mandates 0f Indiana’s

unemployment statute—to secure all rights and benefits available for unemployed

individuals. Plaintiffs, by counsel, for their complaint for declaratory judgment and

injunctive relief state as follows:



PARTIES

1. Plaintiff T.L. resides in Goshen, Indiana. She currently receives

Pandemic Unemployment Assistance (“PUA”) benefits in the amount 0f $449.00

per week to pay for food and other monthly living expenses for herself, her

husband, and her two children (ages 12 years 01d and 19 months 01d). Plaintiffs’

Exhibit 1: Affidavit of T.L. fl 4, 7, 11.

2. T.L. began receiving PUA when the COVID-19 pandemic broke out

due t0 lack of childcare for her then-infant daughter, her son started remote school

and because her doctor recommended that she self—quarantine due to health

conditions. Id. at 1] 6. The baby’s pediatrician also recommended that her daughter

not attend a day care facility because of her health conditions Which posed greater

risk if she contracted COVID-19. Id.

3. T.L. cannot return t0 work as a certified nursing assistant unless she

receives affordable childcare, which is limited in her community. Id. at 1H] 3, 8.

Two affordable daycares in her community told her in May 2021 that they are full.

Id. at 1H] 9—10. One daycare may have availability in August 2021. Id. at 1] 10.

4. Plaintiff J.C. resides in Bloomingdale, Indiana. He was receiving

regular unemployment insurance benefits (“U1”) When the COVID-19 pandemic

broke out. Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 2: Affidavit 0f J.C. 1] 4. After 26 weeks 0fU1 benefits

ran out, he transitioned t0 the PEUC benefits. Id. He received PUA benefits at the



end 0f 2020 and currently receives PEUC benefits in the amount 0f $528.00 per

week. Id.

5. J.C. had a job offer t0 work in a restaurant, but the restaurant never

opened due t0 COVID. Id. He has labor and welding experience, but his

community has a decrease in jobs due t0 the pandemic. Id. atW 3, 5.

6. In June 2021, J.C. signed a 6-month lease from July 1 t0 December

3 1, 2021, before Governor Holcomb announced Indiana would terminate the

federal unemployment benefits early. Id. at 1] 10. He relied on the PEUC benefits

continuing until the previously announced end date 0f September 4, 2021. Id. J.C.

would not have entered a new lease in the absence 0f the unemployment benefits.

Id.

7 . Without his unemployment benefits, J.C. will be unable to pay for rent

and will likely face eviction in July 2021. Id. at 1] 13. Eviction is both expensive,

time consuming, and creates a record that can hinder his ability to rent 0r buy

affordable housing in the future and limit his future employment prospects. Id. at

1H] 13—17.

8. Plaintiff L.C. resides in Indianapolis, Indiana. She currently receives

$606 per week in unemployment compensation. Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 3: Affidavit of

L.C. 1] 4. She is a school bus driver whose family consists 0f a dependent 15-year-

old daughter, a dependent 2 1 -year-01d son Who is disabled, and a 19-year-old



daughter who is currently quarantined With COVID-19. Id. at 1W 3, 8. She also

helps care for her granddaughter Who is almost 2 years 01d. Id. at 1] 8.

9. With many schools operating remotely in 2020 and 2021, there was a

decreased need for school bus drivers during the pandemic, causing L.C. t0 search

for other jobs. Id. atW 5—6. Since the spring of 2020, she has received regular UI

benefits, extended benefits through PEUC, and PUA benefits t0 pay for necessities

like rent. Id. at 1H] 4, 9, 13.

10. L.C. is currently applying for work, but even as a driver With a new

school district, she Will not receive any pay for driving until the fall semester starts

at the end 0fAugust 0r early September 2021. Id. at 1] 6. L.C. is relying 0n

unemployment benefits to get her through the 2021 summer until she can start

driving a school bus again. Id. at 1] 11.

11. L.C. and her family will likely face eviction by August 2021 due t0

the early termination 0f benefits, and such an eviction will be costly and time

consuming. Id. at 1W 13—14. An eviction Will hinder L.C.’s ability t0 obtain

affordable housing and employment in the future. Id. at 1H] 15—17.

12. Plaintiff S.A.S. resides in Indianapolis, Indiana. She currently receives

PUA benefits in the amount 0f $528.00 per week. Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 4: Affidavit of

S.A.S. 1] 5. S.AS. was a delivery driver for an auto parts store during the

pandemic. Id. at 1] 3. She had another job lined up but was unable t0 start it due to



quarantining for COVID-19 exposure, as advised by her health care provider. Id. at

1] 4.

13. S.A.S. has been relying 0n these unemployment benefits to find

another job and pay for necessities like rent and a phone for job searching. Id. at 1H]

6—7, 9. She Will likely face eviction from her apartment in July 2021 from the early

termination 0f her PUA benefits, Which Will be costly, time consuming, and hinder

her ability to obtain future affordable housing and future employment. Id. at 1H]
9—

1 3.

14. J.H.S. resides in Plainfield, Indiana. He currently receives $482 per

week in unemployment compensation. Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 5: Affidavit 0f J.H.S. 1] 5

The $482 amount is made up 0f $182 in regular UI benefits and $300 per week in

FPUC benefits. Id. Before the pandemic, J.H.S. worked in sales for a home

improvement store for 18 years. Id. at 1] 3. He was let g0 0n March 2, 2021. Id.

15. J.H.S. has an injured right shoulder for Which he is currently using

FPUC benefits to cover the therapy. Id. at 11 9. If the FPUC benefits are terminated

on June 19, 2021, he Will not be able t0 finish his therapy. Id.

16. J.H.S. is 70 years 01d. Id. at 11 4. He is drawing social security but that

does not cover all 0f his monthly living expenses. Id. at 1] 8. If the FPUC benefits

are terminated, he may be required t0 accept employment Which he may not be



suited for in order t0 make ends meet. Id. at 1} 10. Doing so would put him at

greater risk for injury, particularly considering his age. Id. at 1H] 4, 10—1 1.

17. Concerned Clergy 0f Indianapolis (“CCI”) is a nearly sixty-year-old

501(c)4 organization of pastors and other concerned citizens that has focused 0n

the welfare of the African American community in Indianapolis. Plaintiffs’ Exhibit

6: Declaration 0f Reverend David Greene 1H] 4, 6

18. The members 0f CCI prioritize service t0, and advocacy for, people in

their community Who are struggling t0 access safe housing, healthcare, living

wages and public benefits, among other areas 0f need. Id. at 1] 9.

19. During the pandemic, CCI has received and acted 0n many requests

for charitable assistance t0 pay for necessities from parishioners and community

members who lost employment. Id. at 1]
11—12.

20. Defendant Eric Holcomb is the Governor 0f Indiana, and he is named

in that capacity.

2 1. Defendant Frederick Payne is the Commissioner 0f the Indiana

Department 0f Workforce Development, and he is named in that capacity.

22. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Trial Rule 75(a)(5).



COUNT I

Governor Holcomb’s Decision t0 N0 Longer Administer

PUA, PEUC, and FPUC Violates Indiana Code 8 22-4-37-1.

23. Plaintiffs bring this action pursuant t0 Indiana’s Uniform Declaratory

Judgment Act, 34-14-1, et seq.

24. On March 27, 2020, former President Donald J. Trump signed the

Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act into law. This

law is codified as 15 U.S.C. § 9001, et seq.

25. The CARES Act temporarily enhanced UI payments by establishing

the following benefits:

(a) Pandemic Unemployment Assistance (“PUA”) for workers Who

were not eligible for regular unemployment benefits and whose

unemployment was caused by COVID- 1 9.1

(b) Pandemic Emergency Unemployment Compensation

(“PEUC”), Which extended regular unemployment

compensation benefits (“U1”) for workers Who had exhausted

UI benefits?

1 15 U.S.C. § 9021.
2 15 U.S.C. § 9025.



(c) Federal Pandemic Unemployment Compensation (“FPUC”),

Which increased the amount 0fUI benefits by $600-per-week

from March 27, 2020, through July 3 1
,
2020.3

26. PUA, PEUC, and FPUC are funded by and conferred under 42 U.S.C.

§§ 1101, 1104, and 1105.4

27. On December 26, 2020, the unemployment provisions in the CARES

Act, including PUA and PEUC, were extended through March 14, 2021, by the

Continued Assistance for Unemployed Workers Act 0f 2020 (“CAUWA”). Pub. L.

N0. 116-260, § 200—01, 206. CAUWA reauthorized FPUC in the amount 0f $300-

per-week, payable from December 26, 2020, through March 14, 2021. Pub. L. No.

116-260, § 203.

28. On March 11, 2021, PUA, PEUC, and FPUC were extended through

September 6, 2021, by the American Rescue Plan Act 0f 2021 (“ARPA”). Pub. L.

N0. 117-2, § 9011, 9013, 9016.

29. T.L. is eligible for PUA benefits under 15 U.S.C. § 9021.

30. J.C. is eligible for PEUC benefits under 15 U.S.C. § 9025.

31. L.C. is eligible for PEUC benefits under 15 U.S.C. §§ 9021, 9025.

3 15 U.S.C. § 9023. FPUC is also included in the “weekly benefit amount” under PUA and PEUC. 15 U.S.C. §

9021(d)(1); 15 U.S.C. § 9025(a)(4)(A).
4 The PUA benefits, including FPUC and administration costs, are funded by 42 U.S.C. §§ 1104(a) and 1105(a). 15

U.S.C. § 9021(g). The PEUC benefits, including FPUC, are funded by 42 U.S.C. §§ 1104(a) and 1105(3), while

PEUC administration costs are funded by 42 U.S.C. § 1101(a). 15 U.S.C. § 9025(d).
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32. S.A.S is eligible for PUA benefits under 15 U.S.C. § 9021.

33. J.H.S. is eligible for FPUC benefits under 15 U.S.C. § 9023.

34. The CARES Act required the Secretary 0f the Department 0f Labor t0

provide PUA benefits, including FPUC through agreements With the States. 15

U.S.C. § 9021(b). PEUC benefits, including FPUC, are also administered through

agreements between the State and the federal government; however, a state may

terminate PEUC and FPUC With 30-days’ notice. 15 U.S.C. §§ 9023(3), 9025(a).

35. The Indiana Department 0f Workforce Development entered an

agreement regarding PUA, PEUC, and FPUC with the U.S. Department 0f Labor

0n behalf of the State of Indiana.

36. On May 17, 2021, Governor Holcomb announced that Indiana will

end its participation in all federally funded pandemic unemployment insurance

programs, including PUA, PEUC, and FPUC, effective June 19, 2021.

37. If PUA, PEUC, and FPUC benefits are terminated in Indiana,

Plaintiffs T.L., J.C., L.C., and S.A.S. Will be unable t0 cover basic living expenses

such as housing, utilities, food, health care, and childcare.

38. If PUA, PEUC, and FPUC benefits are terminated in Indiana, people

in the communities served by CCI Will be unable to cover basic living expenses

such as housing, utilities, food, health care, and childcare.



39. If PUA, PEUC, and FPUC benefits are terminated in Indiana, CCI

will be forced t0 allocate more time and resources towards a greater number 0f

people in CCI’S communities. This Will come at an increased cost t0 CCI’S

members.

40. Indiana’s unemployment insurance program is governed by Article 4

0f Title 22 0f the Indiana Code. As a guide t0 interpretation, Indiana Code section

22-4-1-1 states as follows:

As a guide t0 the interpretation and application 0fthis article, the public

policy 0f this state is declared t0 be as follows: Economic insecurity

due t0 unemployment is declared hereby t0 be a serious menace t0 the

health, morale, and welfare 0f the people 0f this state and t0 the

maintenance 0f public order Within this state.

Indiana Code section 22-4-37-1 requires the State “t0 secure t0 the state 0f Indiana

and t0 employers and employees in Indiana all the rights and benefits which are

conferred under the provisions 0f . . . 42 U.S.C. § 1101 through 1109 . . . and the

amendments t0 those statutes.”

41. By terminating Indiana’s participation in PUA, PEUC, and FPUC

benefits conferred under 42 U.S.C. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1101, 1104, and 1105, Defendants

are Violating their statutory duty to secure such benefits for employees in the State,

including Plaintiffs.
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray:

(A) that the Court declare that Defendants’ termination 0fPUA, PEUC,

and FPUC benefits is invalid and 0f n0 force or effect because it violates Ind. Code

§ 22-4-37-1;

(B) that the Court grant injunctive relief to require the continued

administration ofPUA, PEUC, and FPUC benefits;

(C) that the court award Plaintiffs’ fees and costs; and

(D) that the Court award any other relief the Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

MACEY SWANSON, LLP

/s/JeffreV MaceV
Jeffrey A. Macey, Atty N0. 28378-49

Attorney for Plaintiffs

MACEY SWANSON LLP
445 North Pennsylvania Street

Suite 401

Indianapolis, IN 46204- 1 800

Telephone: (3 17)637—2345

Facsimile: (3 17)637—2369

E-Mail: jmacey@macey1aw.com

Indiana Legal Services, Inc.

/s Jennifer W. Terry

Jennifer W. Terry, #21445-53A
Adam Mueller, # 265 1 5-49

Kristin Hoffman, #33729-49

Attorneyfor Plaintiffs
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Indiana Legal Services, Inc.

1200 Madison Ave. Suite 300

Indianapolis, IN 46225

Tel: (317) 789-8547

Jennifer.terry@ilsi.net

Adam.mueller@i1si.net

Kristin.h0ffman@ilsi.net
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